#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.	

Lower Court Case No. 4D02-2584

JOHN M. and PATRICIA A. HAIRE,
CAROLYN SELIGMAN, LAZ and ELLEN SCHNEIDER,
SUSAN B. PETERSON, STEPHEN M. WOLFMAN,
ROBERT SCHERER, SUSAN and HIRAM FRANK,
JUDITH and BERNARD MACNOW, BROWARD COUNTY,
MIAMI-DADE COUNTY, CITY OF PLANTATION,
CITY OF FT. LAUDERDALE, CITY OF POMPANO BEACH,
CITY OF CORAL SPRINGS, TOWN OF DAVIE, CITY OF
HOLLYWOOD, CITY OF BOCA RATON and VILLAGE OF PINECREST,

Petitioners,

VS.

# FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE AND CONSUMER SERVICES and STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondents.	
PETITIONERS' JURISDICTIONAL BRIEF	

Dognandanta

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS
SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 3
JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT 4
ARGUMENT
THIS COURT SHOULD GRANT JURISDICTION TO REVIEW A DECISION EXPRESSLY DECLARING VALID A STATE STATUTE WHICH WILL IMMINENTLY DEPRIVE MILLIONS OF FLORIDIANS OF THEIR FUNDAMENTAL CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS
Substantive Due Process
Procedural Due Process
Search Warrants
CONCLUSION 10
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE
CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE

## TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

<u>Constitutional Provisions</u>	<u>Page</u>
Art. V, §3(b)(3), Fla. Const	
Cases	
Corneal v. State Plant Board, 95 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1957)	7 8, 9 2, 3 2 6-9 9 6, 7 8, 9 5-8 10 10
Florida Statutes	
Chapter 57-365, Laws of Florida	passim 1 4, 5
Other Materials	
Fla. Admin. Code R. 5BER01-1 (2001)	

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The state has been trying to eradicate citrus canker since the mid-1980s. Petitioners have never challenged the state's destruction of infected trees, the only trees capable of spreading canker. Rather, Petitioners challenged the state's new mandate for destruction of healthy trees. Historically, the state destroyed all trees within 125 feet (about 1 acre) of an infected tree, believing those trees were "exposed" and may become infected. In January 2000, the state changed the exposure zone to 1,900 feet (over 260 acres). On March 18, 2002, Chapter 2002-11, Laws of Florida (the "Canker Law") was enacted, codifying the 1,900-foot destruction zone.

The 1,900-foot zone has never been fully challenged. In July 2001, after the district court ruled that Petitioners' original complaint for injunctive relief must be dismissed for failure to exhaust administrative remedies, Petitioners prevailed in a rule challenge, proving the 1,900-foot zone was an unadopted rule which the Administrative Law Judge noted was "practically immune" from scrutiny. The DOAH ruling prevented the state from using the 1,900-foot zone. §120.56(4)(d), Fla. Stat. (2001). Claiming the citrus industry faced imminent catastrophe, the state responded by adopting an emergency rule which permitted immediate resumption of the 1,900-foot zone. Fla. Admin. Code R. 5BER01-1 (2001). The First District Court of Appeal stayed the emergency rule and authorized an immediate substantive challenge to the 1,900-foot zone. The state immediately withdrew the emergency rule. Shortly after the state was forced to engage in ordinary rulemaking, the Canker Law was enacted, mooting a newly filed administrative challenge.

Petitioners challenged the Canker Law. After an evidentiary hearing conducted without any discovery, the temporary injunction was granted May 24, 2002. Petitioners relied on public records and limited discovery from the rule challenge. The state's key witness was Dr. Gottwald, author of the study upon which the 1,900-foot

zone is based. The state has consistently refused to disclose the data underlying Dr. Gottwald's conclusions, which has prevented Petitioners from deposing Dr. Gottwald or independently analyzing his conclusions. After the temporary injunction was granted, the trial court ordered the state to disclose the data or risk the exclusion of evidence relating to Dr. Gottwald's study at the permanent injunction trial.

The trial court temporarily enjoined the state from destroying any healthy trees, preliminarily finding that the Canker Law was based on invalid science and denied tree owners due process. These findings were based on substantial expert testimony, including admissions by experts employed by the state. The trial court also prohibited the state from searching private yards without consent or a search warrant, and ruled that the state may not obtain bulk-issued warrants.

The state appealed the temporary injunction, and asked the district court to certify the case for direct review by this Court. The district court certified the case, reasoning that a "substantial number of Florida residents . . . will be significantly and adversely affected" by the decision, the decision "will affect the handling of citrus canker cases filed throughout the state" and, regardless of the outcome, "we will almost certainly certify the case to the Supreme Court as being of great public importance." *Fla. Dept. of Agric. v. Haire*, 832 So.2d 778, 781 (Fla. 4th DCA 2002). This Court denied jurisdiction since the "underlying litigation has been ongoing, and is still pending in the trial court . . . ." *Fla. Dept. of Agric. v. Haire*, 824 So.2d 167 (Fla. 2002). Justice Pariente's concurrence, in which Justice Lewis joined, stated:

To take jurisdiction over a non-final order granting a temporary injunction, in a case that is still being litigated, in order to attempt to decide the constitutionality of a statutory scheme that has not yet been declared unconstitutional in a final order would involve us in a piecemeal approach to a multifaceted and complex issue.

*Id.* at 168. The concurrence also noted that the district court admitted several constitutional issues were not yet ripe for plenary review. *Id.* at 168 n.4.

On January 15, 2003, the district court, having conducted a plenary review, reversed the temporary injunction. Petitioners' motions for rehearing, rehearing en banc and certification were denied February 17. The district court stated that certification was unnecessary since Petitioners can invoke this Court's discretionary jurisdiction under Rule 9.030(a)(2)(A)(i). On February 26, 2003, Petitioners timely filed a notice invoking this Court's discretionary jurisdiction.

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

The district court's decision redraws the line between permissible state action and the fundamental constitutional rights of all Floridians. For the first time in Florida, state destruction of private property, without compensation, has been scrutinized under the highly deferential rational basis standard. The decision also approved the denial of a predeprivation hearing when the state claims, but does not demonstrate, the requisite imminent danger. By requiring that Petitioners, due to the claimed exigency, present a complete case at the temporary injunction stage, the district court created an impossible standard for Floridians seeking to protect their property from imminent state destruction. In *Corneal*, this Court recognized that all rights in a free society are undermined if the state possesses untrammeled power over private property. The district court's decision grants the state such power.

The district court found that an inverse condemnation action can cure any due process violations. If inverse was a complete remedy, the Constitution would contain only a full compensation clause, not a guarantee of due process. The district court also authorized the bulk issuance of unprecedented generic search warrants which will subject millions of Floridians to constant surprise intrusions, and which have a demonstrated history of jeopardizing core Fourth Amendment protections.

This Court should grant jurisdiction to review the district court's decision.

#### **JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT**

The Court has discretionary jurisdiction since the district court's decision expressly declares valid a state statute. Art. V, §3(b)(3), Fla. Const.; Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(i).

#### **ARGUMENT**

# THIS COURT SHOULD GRANT JURISDICTION TO REVIEW A DECISION EXPRESSLY DECLARING VALID A STATE STATUTE WHICH WILL IMMINENTLY DEPRIVE MILLIONS OF FLORIDIANS OF THEIR FUNDAMENTAL CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS.

The district court never determined whether the trial court abused its discretion in granting the temporary injunction. Instead, the district court ruled on the ultimate merits. Its decision to conduct plenary review, and the substance of its ruling, are both erroneous.

Substantive Due Process. Petitioners do not dispute that the state may act under its police power to protect the citrus industry. The state action, however, must not violate the Constitution. In holding that the Canker Law does not deny substantive due process, the district court circumvented *Corneal* and became the first Florida appellate court to subject state destruction of private property to mere rational basis scrutiny. In *Corneal*, this Court, recognizing the foundational importance of property rights, subjected state destruction of private property to the strictest conceivable level of scrutiny. *Corneal v. State Plant Board*, 95 So.2d 1, 6 (Fla. 1957). Under *Corneal*, the destruction "is justified only within the narrowest limits of actual necessity, unless the state chooses to pay compensation." *Id.* at 4.

The district court did not state that destroying healthy trees, most of which are in urban areas far from the commercial growing region, is within the "narrowest limits of actual necessity." Instead, the district court found that the state chose to pay

compensation within the meaning of *Corneal*. In §581.1845, Florida Statutes, the state chose only to pay nominal compensation, and expressly conditioned that payment upon future legislative appropriation. Since the Legislature can appropriate whatever amount it wishes, it has reserved the full ability to pay the nominal amount or to even pay nothing for healthy trees destroyed. The Canker Law indisputably does not provide for the full compensation required under Florida's Constitution.

The district court held that token, conditional compensation was acceptable under *Corneal* because, if more compensation is due, it can be resolved in a later inverse condemnation action. This violates *Corneal*'s rationale and would render *Corneal* meaningless. The mere availability of an inverse claim cannot nullify *Corneal*'s exacting scrutiny because an inverse claim is always available. Only when the state chooses to fully compensate, and only when the state recognizes it is obligated to fully compensate, does the state have a sufficiently strong incentive to destroy only what is necessary. The state's agreement to pay full compensation, without condition or excuse, thus serves as an adequate surrogate for the exacting judicial scrutiny that would otherwise be applicable under *Corneal*.

As borne out by the evidence here, no adequate surrogate exists when the state commits to pay little or nothing, especially when the state asserts, as it has done here and in the *Patchen* case recently argued before this Court, that the targeted trees are

A homeowner receives no cash compensation, whatsoever, for the first tree destroyed. §581.1845(3). For each additional tree destroyed, the state agreed to pay the homeowner \$55.00 or \$100.00. §581.1845(6). The amount depends on the fiscal year, not on the tree's value. The state estimates that the average healthy residential citrus tree is worth \$468.00.

Art. X, §6, Fla. Const.; *State Plant Board v. Smith*, 110 So.2d 401, 407 (Fla. 1959) (legislative provision for full compensation was "a clear requisite to the act of destruction.").

valueless nuisances. The state conceded the destruction zone was greatly expanded because destroying trees was less expensive and more convenient than conducting periodic inspections. Because it was not forced to confront the expense of full compensation, and believed in fact no compensation was due, the state felt free to destroy more than what was actually necessary, impermissibly imperiling private property rights. Under *Corneal*, the state's failure to provide for payment of full compensation renders the Canker Law an invalid exercise of police power.

Even had the state agreed to fully compensate, analyzing state destruction of private property under a rational basis test is unprecedented in Florida and based on a misreading of *Miller v. Schoene*, 276 U.S. 272 (1928). *Fla. Dept. of Agric. v. Haire*, 2003 WL 118257 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 2003) ("*Haire*") at \*8-9. *Miller* addressed the destruction of infected cedar trees within two miles of apple orchards, *id.* at 277, not healthy trees far away from the orchards. It was undisputed that the infected cedars would destroy the nearby orchards. *Id.* at 278-79. The destruction was therefore necessary, not merely rational. Neither *Miller* nor any other case supports mere rational basis scrutiny of state destruction of private property.

Even if rational basis scrutiny was proper, the trial court preliminarily found the 1,900-foot zone was arbitrary. The finding was supported by testimony that Gottwald's study and conclusions were unsound. It was also supported by Gottwald's admission that canker cannot be successfully eradicated. Where there is no reasonable expectation that the state goal can be achieved, the state action serves no public purpose and is arbitrary. *Smith*, 110 So.2d at 409.

The district court further stated that the 1,900-foot radius was narrowly tailored because no less destructive alternatives were shown. The temporary injunction record shows several less-destructive alternatives. For example, unlike Florida, Brazil focuses on timely inspection rather than destruction, resulting in destruction zones about 90%

smaller. The state also failed to demonstrate why it would be insufficient to create citrus-free buffer zones around groves, as was done in *Miller*, or to destroy "exposed" trees only in the commercial growing region, as was done in *Smith*. Chapter 57-365, Laws of Florida. Unlike the targeted programs in *Miller* and *Smith*, a state expert touted that Florida's program is "the largest regulatory attempt to eradicate a plant disease ever undertaken in the history of the world."

Petitioners can demonstrate when briefing the merits that the district court's findings of rationality and narrow tailoring are inconsistent with the record. More importantly, however, the ultimate constitutional merits were not yet at issue. The true issue, whether the trial court abused its discretion by granting a temporary injunction, was not addressed by the district court.

The district court sought to justify its plenary review by stating the trial court intended for its order to be final. *Haire* at \*4 n.2. Even were that so, findings and legal conclusions at the temporary injunction stage are never binding since the evidentiary record is more limited than at trial. *Univ. of Texas v. Camerisch*, 451 U.S. 390, 395 (1981) (citations omitted); *Cox v. Florida Mobile Leasing, Inc.*, 478 So.2d 1200 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 1985). If the district court believed the trial court sought to improperly attach finality to its rulings, it should have instructed the trial court accordingly. Penalizing Petitioners by denying a trial preceded by reasonable discovery is unwarranted and without precedent. By requiring that Petitioners present a dispositive case without discovery, the district court denied due process and created an impossible standard which severely undermines constitutional property rights.

Procedural Due Process. Even had the state decided to pay full compensation, the trial court temporarily enjoined the destruction of healthy trees because the Canker Law denies the opportunity for a meaningful predeprivation hearing. After *Corneal*, the Legislature amended the applicable statute to provide for payment of full

compensation. The new statute was challenged in *Smith*. This Court held:

The only possible reason for *summary* destruction of the healthy trees would be the imminent danger of the spread of the disease from an infested to a non-infested grove. Since the <u>facts developed</u> in the Corneal case, <u>and alleged</u> in the complaint in the instant case, <u>show there is no such danger</u>, we cannot find a 'compelling public interest' sufficient to justify making an exception to the basic and fundamental rule of due process, requiring notice and a hearing *before* depriving a person of a substantial right.

*Smith*, 110 So.2d at 408 (underline added). Thus, this Court held that a predeprivation hearing may possibly be denied only if the <u>actual facts developed</u> show the targeted property presents an imminent danger to a compelling state interest.

The compelling state interest is protecting the citrus industry. As with canker, the Legislature declared the citrus disease at issue in *Smith* a "most serious emergency." Chapter 57-365, Laws of Florida. As in the instant case, state experts claimed the emergency required summary destruction. *Corneal*, 95 So.2d at 5. *Smith* allowed these claims to be factually challenged.

Southeast Florida is sufficiently far from the commercial growing region that the state routinely allows even known infected trees, the only trees capable of spreading canker, to remain in place for several months after detection. The state also used Broward and Miami-Dade counties as its living laboratory to conduct the Gottwald study, leaving thousands of known infected trees standing in these counties for up to two years. The district court noted that the state's own conduct "suggests that even [the state is] not concerned that these trees pose an immediate danger to the citrus industries." *Haire* at \*15. That statement cannot be reconciled with the district court's holding that every tree the state deems "exposed," anywhere in the state, is so imminently dangerous to the citrus industry that the fundamental right to a meaningful

predeprivation hearing may be denied.<sup>3</sup>

The district court disregarded the facts developed during the temporary injunction hearing, reasoning that *Denney* and *Nordmann* established that canker, unlike the citrus disease at issue in *Smith*, was always an imminent threat that justified denial of a predeprivation hearing. *Haire* at \*11. *Nordmann* merely adopted *Denney*'s rationale. *Nordmann* v. *Dept. of Agric.*, 473 So.2d 278, 79-80 (Fla. 5<sup>th</sup> DCA 1985). *Denney* was an appeal of an IFO. An IFO must be upheld merely if it specifically alleges an imminent threat. *Denney* v. *Conner*, 462 So.2d 534, 536-37 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA 1985). No imminent threat was ever established.

The district court also overlooked a crucial distinction. The exposed trees at issue in *Denney* and *Nordmann* were planted in the middle of dense groves. If they ever became infected, they would undeniably present an imminent risk of spread into neighboring groves. The same cannot be said of healthy trees, in distant urban areas, included within a newly-declared exposure zone 230-times larger than that applicable in *Denney* and *Nordmann*. Even if they became infected, they certainly present no imminent threat to spread canker to the distant commercial growing region.

Search Warrants. The district court held that the Canker Law's authorization of area-wide warrants up to the size of a full county was "patently unconstitutional." Yet the district court permitted the state to effectively re-create such warrants by authorizing the state to obtain thousands of warrants to search private yards based on a single warrant application. This ruling is without precedent in the United States.<sup>4</sup>

The Canker Law provides the state <u>may</u> deliver an immediate final order ("IFO") 10 days before destruction. The evidence showed appeal of an IFO is not a meaningful hearing. The futility of such appeal was described in telling detail in *Markus v. Fla. Dept. of Agric.*, 785 So.2d 595, 596 (Fla. 3<sup>rd</sup> DCA 2001).

The out-of-state cases cited by the district court involved one warrant to search a small number of properties connected by a single criminal enterprise.

The district court justified its ruling by stating that no Florida statute or case expressly prohibits such warrants. *Haire* at \*16. This justification violates the strict construction standard applicable to search warrant statutes. *State v. Tolmie*, 421 So.2d 1087, 1088 (Fla. 4th DCA 1982) ("affidavits and warrants . . . must meticulously conform to statutory and constitutional provisions."); *accord*, *State ex rel. Wilson v. Quigg*, 17 So.2d 697, 701 (Fla. 1944). Under the strict construction standard, the relevant inquiry is not the absence of a statutory prohibition but rather the existence of an express statutory authorization. Nothing in Chapter 933 expressly authorizes the issuance of multiple warrants from a single application. To the contrary, the search warrant provisions of Chapter 933 speak consistently in the singular of <u>a</u> warrant or the warrant. *See*, §§933.01-933.19, Fla. Stat. (2002).

The district court's ruling will subject millions of Floridians to repeated state intrusions into their private yards. The record contains concrete examples of unnecessary warrants being authorized under the bulk warrant procedure, including the state obtaining thousands of warrants to search high-rise dwellings for citrus trees.

#### CONCLUSION

The Canker Law has never been, and absent reversal will never be, subjected to meaningful challenge. The district court decision will be used to impact the fundamental rights of all Floridians, not just the hundreds of thousands of tree owners immediately impacted. Important constitutional lines should not be drawn in cases where the adversarial process has been stunted. Trial courts must retain the power to preserve the status quo pending resolution of complex constitutional issues.

Petitioners respectfully request that this Court grant jurisdiction.