IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA

CASE No. SC03-446

JOHN M. and PATRICIA A. HAIRE, et al.,

Petitioners,

v.

FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE AND CONSUMER SERVICES and STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondents.

AMENDED BRIEF ON JURISDICTION OF RESPONDENT FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE AND CONSUMER SERVICES

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM A DECISION OF THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

Arthur J. England, Jr., Esq. Elliot H. Scherker, Esq. Elliot B. Kula, Esq. Greenberg Traurig, P.A. 1221 Brickell Avenue Miami, FL 33131

Telephone: 305-579-0500

Facsimile: 305-579-0723

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

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS¹

In 2000, the Florida Legislature found that the citrus industry was vital to the state's economy, that scientific studies established that canker spreads as far as 1,900 feet from infected trees, and that the spread of canker created a state-wide emergency requiring quick eradication. *Haire*, 836 So. 2d at 1051-52. In 2002, the Legislature revisited the citrus canker crisis and enacted the Citrus Canker Law based on "Florida's practical experience with the disease," and a study measuring the spread of canker by Dr. Tim Gottwald, "a nationally recognized expert in the field of plant pathology," which had been published, peer-reviewed, and provided to the Florida Citrus Canker Technical Advisory Task Force. *Id.* at 1051. The Legislature directed the Department to remove all citrus trees located within 1,900 feet of a tree infected with the disease. *Id.* at 1046.

Petitioners brought suit and sought a temporary injunction, contending that the 2002 Citrus Canker Law violated substantive and procedural due process, constituted a taking of property without just compensation, and permitted unreasonable searches and seizures. *Id.* at 1044-45. The trial court granted "an extensive hearing." *Id.* at 1045. Dr. Gottwald and other experts from the Department testified, and petitioners put forward two experts neither of whom "had any training in applying their fields of

_

Petitioners improperly include in their statement purported "facts" that are not within the decision's four corners, which exceeds the constitutional limitation on the Court's review under Article V, section 3(b)(3) of the Florida Constitution, of a decision that *expressly* declares valid a state statute. Of course, there is no record before the Court to verify these extradecision facts, because the Court's review is limited solely to the district court's decision. Fla. R. App. P. 9.120(d)

expertise to plant epidemiology." *Id.* at 1052.² Relying on petitioners' experts, the trial court granted a temporary injunction, holding, in pertinent part, that section 581.184 was unconstitutional, on the ground that Dr. Gottwald's study was not "a sound basis for legislative action." *Id.* The trial court also held that there must be a single warrant application for each parcel of property sought to be searched. *Id.* at 1045-46.

The Department appealed, and the district court accepted the appeal on the basis that the trial court's constitutional determinations were "final," in light of the trial court's holding "that after appellate review, all of the questions of law resolved in the order would become law of the case." *Id.* at 1047, n.2.

After analyzing the governing principles and precedents for determining whether a statute has violated substantive or procedural due process, the district court held that the legislature's enactment of section 581.184 "was amply supported by the scientific studies and Florida's practical experience with citrus canker." *Id.* at 1052. The court also held that procedural due process was not violated inasmuch as a predeprivation hearing is not a constitutional imperative where only money is at issue, and that the statute provides for compensation and complete judicial review. *Id.* at 1053.

The district court also held that the trial court erred in imposing a single parcel requirement on the Department's search warrant applications, determining that all

Petitioners assert that the hearing was conducted without discovery, and that the state had refused to disclose data underlying the Gottwald report (Petitioners' brief at 1-2), but neither of these purported "facts" are *expressly* referenced in the district court's decision.

constitutional and statutory requirements are satisfied so long as an affidavit provides probable cause and particularity as to the properties to be searched. *Id.* at 1058-59.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The district court held that section 581.184 does not deny procedural or substantive due process of law to property owners, and that the trial court erred in enjoining the Department's use of one search warrant application for more than one parcel of property. There is no reason for the Court to exercise its discretionary jurisdiction to review the district court's decision declaring section 581.184 valid, and there is no authority for the Court to review the district court's decision on search warrant applications.

ARGUMENT

I. Substantive due process.

In its continuing effort to provide statutory tools for the Department to eradicate canker, the 2002 Legislature directed the Department to destroy all citrus trees within 1,900 feet of a citrus tree that is infected with canker. § 581.184(2)(a), Fla. Stat. (2002). At petitioners' request, the trial court enjoined the Department from proceeding with its legislatively-mandated eradication program by declaring that section 581.184 constituted a "taking" without just compensation, and a violation of substantive due process, because "the Gottwald report was not . . . 'constitutionally acceptable as a basis for legislative abrogation of a property owner's right to the full panoply of protections by our State and Federal constitutions." *Haire*, 836 So. 2d at 1046.

The district court reversed the trial court's order. Tracing the use of the state's police power to protect the state's citrus industry since 1930, including its use when it had become necessary to destroy citrus trees under a prior canker eradication program, the court carefully analyzed three decisions of this Court examining the interaction between due process and "taking" concerns in the context of the use of the police power to destroy agricultural products: *Corneal v. State Plant Bd.*, 95 So. 2d 2 (Fla. 1957); *State Plant Bd. v. Smith*, 110 So. 2d 401 (Fla. 1959); and *Department of Agric. & Consumer Servs. v. Mid-Florida Growers, Inc.*, 521 So. 2d 101 (Fla. 1988). *Haire*, 836 So. 2d at 1047-50.

From the rationale, language and holdings of those decisions, the court determined that the Fifth Amendment does not limit governmental interference with

property rights *per se*, but rather requires compensation when healthy trees are destroyed for a public benefit. *Id.* at 1049. Relying on *Miller v. Schoene*, 276 U.S. 272 (1928), involving the destruction of healthy apple trees, and from *express* language in *Corneal*, the court held that the test for determining whether a statute violates substantive due process is the "reasonable relationship" test and not, as petitioners argued, the "narrowly tailored least restrictive means" test. *Haire*, 836 So. 2d at 1050. The court's decision directly follows repeated decisions of this Court which have held that substantive due process is determined under the rational basis test. *E.g., Ilkanic v. City of Ft. Lauderdale*, 705 So. 2d 1371, 1272 (Fla. 1998); *Lane v. Chiles*, 698 So. 2d 260, 262-63 (Fla. 1997); *Lite v. State*, 617 So. 2d 1058, 1059-60 (Fla. 1993); *In re Forfeiture of 1969 Piper Navajo*, 592 So. 2d 233, 235 (Fla. 1992).

Applying that test, the court held that "legislatures are not limited to acting only where there is scientific certainty," that the Florida Legislature had before it both scientific studies and its own practical experience in fighting citrus canker for more than 20 years, and that legislative choice is not subject to "courtroom fact-finding." *Haire*, 836 So. 2d at 1052. The court concluded that, despite petitioners' courtroom criticisms of the Gottwald report, the Legislature's action was "amply supported" by science and its own practical experience. *Id.* The court went on to hold that the statute *also* meets the "narrowly tailored least restrictive means" test that petitioners contend should have been applied, because petitioners offered no evidence of an alternative method to meet the Legislature's goal of *eradication*, rather than mere containment. *Id.* at 1053.

Petitioners ask the Court to review the district court's substantive due process determination on the basis of three arguments.

They first assert that the district court "circumvented" *Corneal* by applying the rational basis test, because the Legislature provided what they claim is inadequate rather than "full" compensation for citrus trees destroyed under the Department's eradication program. Petitioners' brief at 4-5. This argument provides no basis for discretionary review, however. The argument is dependent on purported "facts" which are not before the Court; namely, that the Department estimated the value of healthy residential citrus trees at \$468, and that an alleged inadequacy of an inverse condemnation award is "borne out by the evidence." *Id.* at 5 & n.1.³

Even if the Court were to consider this argument, however, it would find that the district court directly addressed and rejected this argument by holding that section 581.1845 provides for compensation for the destruction of trees and that the statutory amount of compensation is not controlling in any event. *Haire*, 836 So. 2d at 1054. The very statute which sets a minimum floor for compensation also states that those amounts are not determinative and "does not limit the amount of any other compensation that may be paid . . . pursuant to court order." *Id.* (quoting § 581.1845(4), Fla. Stat. (2002)). The availability of inverse condemnation

²

Petitioners persistently exceed the constitutional limitation on the Court's review by referencing "evidence" from the trial proceeding, a trial court finding "supported by testimony," what the "record shows," what a state expert allegedly "touted" in the proceeding, and what they "can demonstrate when briefing the merits" — none of which is *expressly* referenced in the decision. *Id.* at 7.

proceedings (which, in this case, remain pending in the trial court) provides a vehicle through which such "other compensation" may be awarded.

Petitioners' contention that the availability of inverse condemnation claims does not "nullify *Corneal*'s exacting scrutiny because an inverse claim is always available" (Petitioners' brief at 5), simply misses the point. Here, the legislature has authorized "other compensation." § 581.1845(4), Fla. Stat. (2002). Inverse condemnation is an available remedy. This is in sharp contrast to a forfeiture, for which neither inverse condemnation nor statutorily authorized compensation is available. *Piper Navajo*, 592 So. 2d at 234-35. The legislature cannot be more precise on the compensation amount, in any event, because that is a judicial function. *Department of Agric. & Consumer Servs. v. Bonanno*, 568 So. 2d 24, 30-31 (Fla. 1990). And of course, the issue of the amount of compensation to be awarded to citrus tree owners is not before the court in this case, but rather in *Patchen v. State*, *Dep't of Agric. & Consumer Servs.*, Case No. SC02-1291.

Petitioners next assert that even if full compensation is available under the statute, the district court has misread the Supreme Court's *Miller* decision because it dealt with "infected" cedar trees rather than, as here, apparently healthy citrus trees. Petitioners' brief at 6. It appears that petitioners, not the district court, have misread *Miller*, however. That decision quite clearly approved the destruction of cedar trees which "may be" the source of the communicable plant disease, and held that a state need not wait "for absolute infection" before the trees may be destroyed. 276 U.S. at 277-78. Given the nature of citrus canker, that its symptoms are not fully seen until 107 to 108 days after infection, and that it is uncontrollably spread through wind-

driven rain or contamination of equipment or plant material (*Haire*, 836 So. 2d at 1043), the district court properly determined that the substantive due process analysis in *Miller* was fully applicable here.

Petitioners also argue that the district court's determination of the constitutionality of the 2002 Citrus Canker Law was premature, because (i) the "ultimate constitutional merits" were not at issue, (ii) the findings and conclusions of a "temporary injunction" are "never binding," and (iii) they were "penalized" by not having a trial "preceded by reasonable discovery." Petitioners' brief at 6-7. These arguments fly in the face of the district court's express holding that the constitutional issues adjudicated in the trial court's order *were* final and binding for all purposes in this proceeding. In any event, these arguments go the district court's jurisdiction, and do not provide a basis for invoking this Court's jurisdiction on the only ground that petitioners have presented – namely, that the district court's decision has held a state statute valid.

II. Procedural due process.

Petitioners argue that procedural due process is denied by the 2002 Citrus Canker Law, because *Smith* requires the development of "facts" for a showing of imminent danger, and the district court "disregarded the facts developed "at the trial proceeding." Petitioners' brief at 8-9. They also assert that "the evidence showed" that the statutorily-required, 10-day, pre-destruction hearing opportunity provided by Immediate Final Orders issued by the Department to every property owner "is not a meaningful hearing." *Id.* at 8, n.3.

The obvious problem with these arguments is that neither provides a basis for invoking the Court's discretionary jurisdiction. Both arguments are dependent on evidence developed at the "extensive hearing" in the trial court, none of which is *expressly* identified or discussed in the district court's decision. The Court thus has no record on which to evaluate the accuracy of petitioners' contentions, and the Department has no record from which to discuss the quantity, quality, or nature of the evidence adduced at that hearing.⁴

More fundamentally, petitioners do not challenge the district court's rationale for holding that, based on United States Supreme Court precedent, mere "postponement" of a judicial inquiry is not a denial of due process where only property rights are involved, and that inverse condemnation provides an adequate judicial proceeding for that purpose. *Haire*, 836 So. 2d at 1053-54.

The Court should reject the invocation of its jurisdiction on this challenge to the district court's decision. There is no "fact" basis for the Court to review the evidence of which petitioners complain, and they make no complaint of the legal basis for the district court's careful analysis of the trial court's misanalysis.

_

Petitioners take out of context the district court's observation that "these trees do not pose an immediate danger." Petitioners' brief at 8 (*quoting* 836 So. 2d at 1058). The court there was only commenting that the few days that it would take to obtain a warrant would not pose the type of exigent circumstances required to dispense with a warrant. The untold months it would take to litigate an eminent domain action before removing a tree, however, is a wholly different matter.

III. Single search warrant affidavits for multiple properties.

Petitioners invoked Article V, section 3(b)(3) of the Florida Constitution, which authorizes the Court's review of decisions which expressly declare a state statute valid, as the *only* jurisdictional basis for Court review. Petitioners' brief at 4. Petitioners argue, however, that the district court erred in overturning the trial court's restriction on the number of properties that can be identified in a search warrant application. This argument is not a basis for court review.

The only provision in the 2002 Citrus Canker Law that addressed search warrants was section 933.07(2), which authorized area-wide warrants for the Department's canker eradication program. The district court held that provision to be unconstitutional. Petitioners' challenge to the court's ruling with respect to the search warrant affidavits, however, is that it violates the principle of "strict construction applicable to search warrant statutes." Petitioners' brief at 9-10. The Constitution does not authorize the Court to exercise its discretionary jurisdiction to review district court decisions that construe statutes, though.

CONCLUSION

The petition for discretionary review should be denied.